I.	Assignments of Error
II.	Statement of the Case
A.	Introduction And Procedural History
В.	Statement of the Relevant Facts
C.	The Circuit Court's February 6, 2012 Ruling
III.	Summary of Argument
IV.	Statement Regarding Oral Argument and Decision
V.	Argument
A.	Standard Of Appellate Review
В.	The Circuit Court's 2012 Ruling Which Invalidated The Clear And Unmistakable Arbitration Agreements On The Basis That They Are Unconscionable Contracts Of Adhesion Was Made On An Inadequate Record
C.	The Circuit Court's 2012 Ruling Is Directly At Odds With Recent Decisional Law. 18
D.	The Arbitration Agreements Are Enforceable
	1. The Agreement of Sale And Arbitration Provision Therein Are Not Procedurally Unconscionable
	2. The Agreement of Sale And Arbitration Provision Therein Are Not Substantively Unconscionable
E.	The Circuit Court Erred In Treating Defendants' Renewed Motion To Compel As A Motion For Rule 60(b) Relief From The Circuit Court's February 6, 2012 Order 32
VI.	Conclusion

#### **TABLE OF AUTHORITIES**

#### Cases

Arnold v. United Cos. Lending Corp., 204 W.Va. 229, 511 S.E.2d 854 (1998)
Art's Flower Shop, Inc. v. Chesapeake & Potomac Tel. Co. of W. Va., Inc., 186 W.Va. 613, 413 S.E.2d 670 (1991)
Bd. of Educ. of Berkeley v. W. Harley Miller, Inc., 160 W.Va. 473, 236 S.E.2d 439 (1977) 8
Bluestem Brands, Inc. v. Shade, 239 W.Va. 694, 805 S.E.2d 805 (2017)
Brown v. Genesis Healthcare Corp., 228 W.Va. 646, 724 S.E.2d 250 (2011)
Chevron U.S.A., Inc. v. Bonar, No. 16-1213, 2018 WL 871567 (W.Va. Feb. 14, 2018) 3, 30
<u>Citizens Telecomms. Co. of W.Va. v. Sheridan</u> , 239 W.Va. 67, 799 S.E.2d 144 (2017) 3, 19, 29
<u>Credit Acceptance Corp. v. Front</u> , 231 W.Va. 518, 745 S.E.2d 556 (2013)
<u>Dan Ryan Builders, Inc. v. Nelson</u> , 230 W.Va. 281, 737 S.E.2d 550 (2012)
<u>Dan Ryan Builders, Inc. v. Nelson, No. 3:10-cv-76, 2014 WL 496775 (N.D. W.Va. Feb. 6, 2014</u>
Employee Res. Group, LLC v. Harless, No. 16-0493, 2017 WL 1371287 (W.Va. Apr. 13, 2017)
Ewing v. Bd. of Educ., 202 W.Va. 228, 503 S.E.2d 541 (1998)
Geological Assessment & Leasing v. O'Hara, 236 W.Va. 381, 780 S.E.2d 647 (2015)
Grayiel v. Appalachian Energy Partners 2001-D, LLP, 230 W.Va. 91, 736 S.E.2d 91 (2012) 16
<u>Hampden Coal, LLC v. Varney</u> , 240 W.Va. 284, 810 S.E.2d 286 (2018) passim
<u>Intercity Realty Co. v. Gibson</u> , 154 W.Va. 369, 175 S.E.2d 452 (1970)
<u>Kirby v. Lion Enters., Inc.</u> , 233 W.Va. 159, 756 S.E.2d 493 (2014)
Kirby v. Lion Enters., Inc., No. 16-1175, 2017 WL 5513619 (W.Va. Nov 17, 2017)
<u>Law v. Monongahela Power Co.</u> , 210 W.Va. 549, 558 S.E.2d 349 (2001)
Marmet Health Care Center, Inc. v. Brown, 565 U.S. 530 (2012)
N.C. v. W.R.C., 173 W.Va. 434, 317 S.E.2d 793 (1984)

ii

<u>Nationstar Mortgage, LLC v. West,</u> 237 W.Va. 84, 785 S.E.2d 634 (2016) passin
New v. GameStop, Inc., 232 W.Va. 564, 753 S.E.2d 52 (2013)
Parsons v. Consolidated Gas Supply Corp., 163 W.Va. 464, 256 S.E.2d 758 (1979)
Parsons v. Halliburton Energy Servs., Inc., 237 W.Va. 138, 785 S.E.2d 844 (2016)
Pingley v. Perfection Plus Turbo-Dry, LLC, 231 W.Va. 553, 746 S.E.2d 544 (2013) 15. 27
Price v. Morgan Fin. Group, No. 12-1026, 2013 WL 3184671 (W.Va. June 24, 2013)
Salem Int'l Univ., LLC v. Bates, 238 W.Va. 229, 793 S.E.2d 879 (2016)
Schumacher Homes of Circleville, Inc. v. Spencer, 237 W.Va. 379, 787 S.E.2d 650 (2016) . 3, 19
Shorts v. AT&T Mobility, No. 11-1649, 2013 WL 2995944 (W.Va. June 17, 2013)
<u>State ex rel. Dunlap v. Berger</u> , 211 W.Va. 549, 567 S.E.2d 265 (2002)
State ex rel. Johnson Controls, Inc. v. Tucker, 229 W.Va. 486, 729 S.E.2d 808 (2012)
State ex rel. Ocwen Loan Serv'g, LLC v. Webster, 232 W.Va. 341, 752 S.E.2d 372 (2013)passin
State ex rel. Richmond Am. Homes of W. Va., Inc. v. Sanders, 228 W.Va. 125, 717 S.E.2d 90 (2011)
State ex rel. TD Ameritrade v. Kaufman, 225 W.Va. 260, 692 S.E.2d 293 (2010)
SWN Prod. Co. v. Long, 240 W.Va. 1, 807 S.E.2d 249 (2017)
<u>Taylor v. Elkins Home Show, Inc.</u> , 210 W.Va. 612, 558 S.E.2d 611 (2001)
<u>Toler v. Shelton</u> , 157 W.Va. 778, 204 S.E.2d 85 (1974)
Toney v. EQT Corp., No. 13-1101, 2014 WL 2681091 (W.Va. June 13, 2014)
W. Va. Bd. of Educ. v. Marple, 236 W.Va. 654, 783 S.E.2d 75 (2015)
<u>Statutes</u>
Federal Arbitration Act, 9 U.S.C. §§ 1, et seq. ("FAA")
W.Va. Code § 51-1A-3
Rules
W.Va. R.C.P. 60(b)

iii

#### I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- I. The circuit court erred in concluding without sufficient evidentiary support that an arbitration agreement within a cohesive agreement for the construction and sale of real property was an unconscionable contract of adhesion.
- II. The circuit court's ruling that the subject arbitration agreements were unconscionable and therefore unenforceable is directly at odds with current decisional law.

#### II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. <u>Introduction And Procedural History</u>

The claims asserted by the named plaintiffs in this case are subject to agreements to arbitrate. At the inception of this case, the defendants sought to enforce the agreements by the filing of a Motion to Dismiss and Compel Arbitration. The circuit court received a few abbreviated conclusory affidavits<sup>1</sup> and extensive briefing over a two year period, and conducted a hearing but took no testimony. Ultimately, the motion was denied by virtue of a letter decision dated December 5, 2011. Significantly, although the letter decision made no pertinent fact findings whatsoever and, with citation to eight legal decisions, concluded only that the arbitration agreements were unconscionable contracts of adhesion, the letter invited plaintiffs' counsel to prepare a proposed order. The order as prepared by plaintiffs' counsel delineated a series of conclusory findings of fact and conclusions of law which were adopted in their entirety by order dated February 6, 2012. R0053-R0486. In any event, the circuit court found that there were agreements to arbitrate, and that the arbitration agreements embraced plaintiffs' claims.

{L0663299.1 }

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The specific contents of the record before the court were the Agreements of Sale containing the subject arbitration agreements (R0058-R0059), an additional agreement between the parties which required arbitration of similar disputes (the Quality Builders Warranty Corporation Limited Warranty Agreement, R0061), affidavits from each named plaintiff containing bald, boilerplate assertions hostile to the arbitration provision – but largely inconsistent with deposition testimony later received from the plaintiffs (R0109-R0231), and the affidavits of Chris Rusch and Crystal Rankin regarding the circumstances surrounding the execution of the Agreements of Sale (R0326-R0330). The circuit court was also provided with the designated arbitration forum's fee schedule (R0331-R0336).

However, the court declined to enforce the agreements ostensibly because they are unconscionable and contracts of adhesion. Although determinations of unconscionability and a finding that a contract is adhesive are obviously highly fact intensive, the circuit court's ruling was premised upon a sparse evidentiary record consisting only of a few affidavits containing conclusory allegations and lacking material factual information. At the time an interlocutory ruling refusing to enforce an arbitration agreement had not yet been recognized as immediately appealable under the collateral order doctrine.<sup>2</sup> The parties and the circuit court, however, recognized the need for immediate appeal; which was thought at the time to be best achieved through the rubric of a certified question under W.Va. Code § 51-1A-3.<sup>3</sup> Therefore, an Agreed Order was entered on March 21, 2012, directing the parties to agree upon wording for a question to be certified for immediate appeal. R0468-R0491. The Agreed Order expressly provided that "the participation by defendants in discovery and other pretrial phases of the case in this Court will not preclude the defendants from seeking appellate review of the Court's arbitration ruling. nor the findings of fact or conclusions of law set forth in this Court's written Order of February 6, 2012." R0489. By email dated February 9, 2012 defendants' counsel initially proposed the following question:

Whether the findings of fact entered by this Court in its written Order dated February 6, 2012 are adequately supported by the record before the Court, and whether the Court's legal conclusion that "...the Agreement at issue in this case contains an arbitration provision that was not bargained for and is unconscionable and invalid" is in accord with applicable law?

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> In <u>Credit Acceptance Corp. v. Front</u>, 231 W.Va. 518, 745 S.E.2d 556 (2013), this court held for the first time that "[a]n order denying a motion to compel arbitration is an interlocutory ruling which is subject to immediate appeal under the collateral order doctrine." Syl. Pt. 1, <u>Id</u>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> West Virginia Uniform Certification of Questions of Law Act provides in pertinent part: "[t]he supreme court of appeals of West Virginia may answer a question of law certified to it by any court of the United States ... if the answer may be determinative of an issue in a pending cause in the certifying court and if there is no controlling appellate decision, constitutional provision or statute of this state."

R1212. Counsel for the plaintiffs found that verbiage unsatisfactory, but neglected to explain why, nor did plaintiffs' counsel ever propose alternative wording. Ultimately, despite extensive efforts, *e.g.* R1205-R1233, the parties were unable to reach agreement on the wording for a certified question.

In the meantime, beginning in 2013, a sea change occurred in the decisional law from this Court – not necessarily in the legal precepts that apply to the enforcement of arbitration agreements, but in the faithfulness of their application to the facts and circumstances of discrete cases, and in the outcomes with respect to disputes regarding arbitrability. Since 2012 this Court has neither made a ruling nor affirmed a ruling of a circuit court declining to enforce an agreement to arbitrate on grounds of unconscionability, nor found an agreement to be adhesive as did the circuit court in this case, and at least eighteen decisions issued by this Court have resulted in the enforcement of valid and binding arbitration agreements.<sup>4</sup> Given these developments, defendants presented a renewed motion to compel arbitration on January 8, 2018.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> See Hampden Coal, LLC v. Varney, 240 W.Va. 284, 810 S.E.2d 286 (2018); Chevron U.S.A.. Inc. v. Bonar, No. 16-1213, 2018 WL 871567 (W.Va. Feb. 14, 2018); Kirby v. Lion Enters., Inc., No. 16-1175, 2017 WL 5513619 (W.Va. Nov 17, 2017); SWN Prod. Co. v. Long, 240 W.Va. 1, 807 S.E.2d 249 (2017); Citizens Telecomms. Co. of W.Va. v. Sheridan, 239 W.Va. 67, 799 S.E.2d 144 (2017); Employee Res. Group, LLC v. Harless, No. 16-0493, 2017 WL 1371287 (W.Va. Apr. 13, 2017); Salem Int'l Univ., LLC v. Bates, 238 W.Va. 229, 793 S.E.2d 879 (2016); Schumacher Homes of Circleville, Inc. v. Spencer, 237 W.Va. 379, 787 S.E.2d 650 (2016); Parsons v. Halliburton Energy Servs., Inc., 237 W.Va. 138, 785 S.E.2d 844 (2016); Nationstar Mortgage, LLC v. West, 237 W.Va. 84, 785 S.E.2d 634 (2016); Geological Assessment & Leasing v. O'Hara, 236 W.Va. 381, 780 S.E.2d 647 (2015); Toney v. EQT Corp., No. 13-1101, 2014 WL 2681091 (W.Va. June 13, 2014); State ex rel. Ocwen Loan Serv'g, LLC v. Webster, 232 W.Va. 341, 752 S.E.2d 372 (2013); New v. GameStop, Inc., 232 W.Va. 564, 753 S.E.2d 52 (2013); Price v. Morgan Fin. Group, No. 12-1026, 2013 WL 3184671 (W.Va. June 24, 2013); Credit Acceptance Corp. v. Front, supra; Shorts v. AT&T Mobility, No. 11-1649, 2013 WL 2995944 (W.Va. June 17, 2013); State ex rel. Johnson Controls, Inc. v. Tucker, 229 W.Va. 486, 729 S.E.2d 808 (2012).

Moreover, just last year this Court held that "[a] non-signatory to a written agreement requiring arbitration may utilize the estoppel theory to compel arbitration against an unwilling signatory when the signatory's claims make reference to, presume the existence of, or otherwise rely on the written agreement. Such claims sufficiently arise out of and relate to the written agreement as to require arbitration." Syl. Pt. 4, <u>Bluestem Brands. Inc. v. Shade</u>, 239 W.Va. 694, 805 S.E.2d 805 (2017). That ruling is uniquely important in this case because most of the defendants are not signatories to the pertinent arbitration agreement.

requesting that the circuit court revisit the arbitrability issue, this time on a much more developed evidentiary record. R0709-R0714. Erroneously treating defendants' motion as a Rule 60(b) motion for relief from judgment from the February 6, 2012 ruling, even though the ruling did not constitute a judgment and was an interlocutory order contemplated to be certified for immediate appeal, the circuit court denied defendants' motion as untimely. R0001-R0012. In doing so, the circuit court refused to consider the record of evidence which has now been developed in the case, and essentially ratified the February 6, 2012 ruling. For innumerable reasons, the February 6, 2012 ruling refusing to enforce the arbitration agreements was error, the May 30, 2018 ruling is similarly error, and at bottom this Court must enforce the arbitration agreements.

#### B. STATEMENT OF THE RELEVANT FACTS

This case involves multifaceted tort and property damages claims asserted by a group of individuals who are the original owners of roughly half of the homes in a residential development known as "Crystal Ridge" located in Bridgeport, West Virginia. Plaintiffs instituted this action against Dan Ryan Builders, Inc. and affiliated entities and individuals on February 9, 2009 seeking property damage, decreased property values, and emotional distress related to alleged defects and deficiencies in, on, under, around and adjacent to their properties and in the development as a whole. R0019-R0052.

The plaintiffs acquired their property from Dan Ryan Builders, Inc. by virtue of Agreements of Sale under which the plaintiffs agreed to purchase, and Dan Ryan Builders, Inc. agreed to build and sell residential homes to the plaintiffs' specifications. In addition to establishing the terms and conditions of each purchase/sale, the Agreements of Sale also establish the manner in which any disputes between the parties were to be resolved. R0737-R0743. In that respect, each Agreement of Sale contains the following standard arbitration provision:

#### 19. ARBITRATION.

(a) Any dispute arising under or pursuant to this Agreement, or in any way related to the Property and/or with respect to any claims arising by virtue of any representations alleged to have been made by Us, or any agents and/or employees thereof. (with the exception of "Consumer Products" as defined by the Magnuson-Moss Warranty Federal Trade Commission Improvements Act. 15 U.S.C. Section 2301 et seq. and the regulations promulgated thereunder) shall be settled and finally determined by arbitration and not in a court of law, irrespective of whether or not such claim arises prior to or after Settlement hereunder, pursuant to the Construction Industry Arbitration Rules and the Supplementary Procedures for Residential Construction Disputes of the American Arbitration association ("AAA") then in effect. Prior to commencing arbitration, the dispute shall first be mediated in accordance with the Construction Industry Mediation Rules of AAA, or another mediation service designated by Us. The parties hereto specifically acknowledge that they are and shall be bound by arbitration and are barred from initiating any proceeding or action whatsoever in connection with this Agreement. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein contained, in the event You default by failing to settle on the Property within the time required under this Agreement, then We may either (i) commence an arbitration proceeding under this Section 19, or (i) bring an action for its damages, including reasonable attorneys' fees, as a result of the default in a court having jurisdiction over the Purchaser. You expressly waive your right to mediation and arbitration in such event. Each party shall be entitled to full discovery in accordance with the local rules of court in the event that arbitration is invoked under this Section 10. The provisions of this Section 19 shall survive the execution and delivery of the deed, and shall not be merged therein.

See e.g. R0742-R0743.

The arbitration provision above-quoted typically appears on the 6<sup>th</sup> page of the seven page Agreement of Sale, *e.g.* R0737-R0743, although one version of the Agreement of Sale utilizes a different font pushing the arbitration provision to the 8<sup>th</sup> of nine total pages. *E.g.* R0744-R0752. With either format, the purchaser initialed each page of the Agreement – including the page containing the arbitration provision. In addition, the purchaser acknowledged by signing the last page of the agreement:

YOU ACKNOWLEDGE THAT YOU HAVE READ AND UNDERSTAND THE PROVISIONS OF THIS AGREEMENT. YOU

FURTHER ACKNOWLEDGE RECEIPT OF A COPY OF (1) THIS AGREEMENT; (II) THE STANDARD FEATURES LIST AND OPTIONAL FEATURES LIST; (III) SKETCH FLOOR PLANS OF THE HOME, AND (IV) ALL ADDENDA TO BE ATTACHED TO THIS AGREEMENT PURSUANT TO SECTION 16.

... PLEASE MAKE SURE THAT ALL PROVISIONS ARE READ AND UNDERSTOOD BEFORE SIGNING.

See e.g. R0743.

Based upon the indisputable documentary evidence alone, in light of the recent trend in West Virginia decisional law, the arbitration provision would be enforceable as to each of the plaintiffs. However, based upon the record accumulated through discovery over the last several years, there is additional compelling evidence which would make enforceability of the arbitration provision unassailable. The depositions of 26 of the plaintiffs have been taken to date (see R0781-R1182), and the Agreement of Sale governing each transaction with each of the plaintiffs has been produced. Discovery has demonstrated that during the review of the Agreement of Sale, many of the plaintiffs negotiated the price of the home. Additionally, many of the plaintiffs elected to use an outside lender in lieu of DRB's preferred, affiliated lender Monocacy Home Mortgage, LLC, but negotiated to retain a purchase price credit/incentive otherwise contingent on the use of Monocacy Home Mortgage, LLC, and DRB's preferred settlement attorney and title company. Many of the plaintiffs also negotiated the addenda to the agreement, including individualized landscaping requests, and property sale contingencies. With the exception of a couple of homes which were constructed as spec homes, the plaintiffs were able to make selections and modifications to the layout, electrical, data and telecom, flooring, cabinetry, countertops, and fixtures in their homes. See R0781-R1182. Consequently, the sales process and the Agreement of Sale, itself, was not a take-it-or-leave-it scenario.

In their depositions, all of the plaintiffs conceded that they were not compelled to purchase their home in Crystal Ridge, and that no one forced them to sign the Agreement of Sale. Many of them testified that they looked at existing and/or new homes elsewhere before deciding to purchase in Crystal Ridge. See R0824-R0826, R0873-R0875, R0898-R0900, R0947-R0948, R0973-R0974, R0979-R0980, R0987-R0990, R1028-R1029, R1072-R1074, R1107-R1109, R1120-R1122. Most of the plaintiffs are college educated. See R0805, R0869, R0892-R0894, R0918-R0919, R0925-R0927, R0972, R0982-R0985, R1026-R1027, R1045-R1046. R1089-R1091, R1105-1106, R1134-R1136, R1141-R1143, R1162-R1165. employed by the federal government in Bridgeport, West Virginia. See R0782, R0800, R1071. R1084, R1089-R1091. At least six of the plaintiffs are, or were, in the sales and finance industries, e.g. R0901-R0907, R0925-R0927, R0944-R0945, R1008-R1009, R1047-R1049, R1051-R1052; when asked, three of the six could not remember if the form agreements they utilized on a daily basis included an arbitration provision. Only three of the 26 plaintiffs deposed thus far were first-time home buyers at the time of this transaction. See R0782-R0784 (two prior); R0806 (first purchase); R0823-R0824 (first purchase); R0870-R0872 (two prior); R0895-R0897 (two prior); R0928-R0929 (first purchase); R0945-R0946 (one prior); R0985-R0986 (two prior); R1010-1011 (two prior); R1046 (one prior); R1052-R1055 (2 prior, one of which was new construction); R1071-R1072 (one prior); R1092 (one prior, new construction); R1119 (one prior); R1144-R1145 (two prior); R1165-R1166 (two prior). One of the three utilized a realtor throughout the negotiation process. See R0824-R0826. A couple of the plaintiffs have prior experience with new construction.

Contrasted with the plaintiffs' position vis a vis the Agreements of Sale, Dan Ryan Builders, Inc. arguably had the weaker bargaining position. In a market where other homes, both

new and pre-owned, were available for purchase, Dan Ryan Builders, Inc. had to be competitive. These plaintiffs were shopping around, and were generally educated and experienced in real estate transactions. Many of the plaintiffs negotiated substantial monetary incentives while still utilizing their own lenders and settlement agents. Despite those circumstances, none of the plaintiffs – and none of the purchasers in Crystal Ridge – objected to or attempted to negotiate the arbitration provision.

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