No.: 18-0579

DAN RYAN BUILDERS, INC., DAN RYAN BUILDERS REALTY, INC., DRB ENTERPRISES, INC., MONOCACY HOME MORTGAGE, LLC, CHRISTOPHER RUSCH and CRYSTAL RANKIN.

Defendants Below, Petitioners,

v.

FRANK M. WILLIAMS, and DIANA P. WILLIAMS, et al.,

Plaintiffs Below, Respondents.

#### RESPONDENTS' BRIEF

#### Counsel for Respondents:

James A. Varner, Sr. WVSB #3853

javarner@wvlawyers.com

Debra Tedeschi Varner WVSB #6501

Counsel of Record

dtvarner@wvlawyers.com

James N. Riley WVSB #3111

jnriley@wvlawyers.com

McNeer, Highland, McMunn and Varner, L.C.

Empire Building – 400 West Main Street

Post Office Drawer 2040

Clarksburg, WV 26302-2040

Telephone: (304) 626-1100

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

Development. With a team of skilled attorneys (who also represented many of the Respondents) and other professionals, Petitioners had the upper hand throughout the transaction. *See, e.g.,* ¶5 at R0119; R0122; R0128; R0131; R0140; R0143; R0146; R0149.

Respondents did not have any meaningful alternatives at the time the Sales Agreement when presented for execution. Id. at ¶7. Respondents were presented with the documents without having an opportunity to review them previously or without having the opportunity to review them on their own time and with pressure from Petitioners' authorized representatives. Id. As discussed, infra, the terms contained in the arbitration agreements were unfair and one-sided solely favoring the Petitioners.

Although the law presumes that an arbitration provision in an agreement "was bargained for and that arbitration was intended to be the exclusive means of resolving disputes arising under the contract," when unconscionability is alleged and it is alleged that the contract is one of adhesion, "the question of whether an arbitration provision was bargained for and valid is a matter of law for the court to determine by reference to the entire contract, the nature of the contracting parties, and the nature of the undertakings covered by the contract." *Clites*, Syl. Pt. 3, 224 W. Va. at 300. Unconscionability means that due to "gross imbalance, one-sidedness or lop-sidedness in a contract, a court may be justified in refusing to enforce the contract as written." *Kirby*, Syl. Pt. 5, 233 W. Va. at 159. When applying the concept of unconscionability, it must be done in "a flexible manner, taking into consideration all of the facts and circumstances of a particular case." *Id.* 

Under our law, unconscionability is analyzed and divided into two subparts: procedural unconscionability and substantive unconscionability. *Brown I*, 228 W. Va. at 681. To be enforceable, a contract term must – "at least in some small measure" – be both procedurally and

substantively unconscionable. *State ex rel. Johnson Controls, Inc. v. Tucker*, 229 W. Va. 486, 500, 729 S.E.2d 808 (2012). The arbitration agreements contained in the Sales Agreement and Limited Warranty Agreement are both procedurally and substantively unconscionable.

### i. THE ARBITRATION AGREEMENTS ARE PROCEDURALLY UNCONSCIONABLE.

Regarding procedural unconscionability, *Brown I* states, "[p]rocedural unconscionability arises from inequities, improprieties, or unfairness in the bargaining process and the formation of the contract, inadequacies that suggest a lack of a real and voluntary meeting of the minds of the parties." *Brown I*, Syl. Pt. 17, 228 W. Va. at 657. Although courts have recognized that pre-printed form contracts are a "stark reality" of today's culture and are not inherently unenforceable "as long as they comport with the reasonable expectations of the parties," the arbitration provisions at issue here could not conform with Respondents' reasonable expectations. *Nationstar*, 237 W. Va. at 89. A reasonable person purchasing a home who had already agreed to the home design and purchase price would not expect a sales agreement to eliminate rights to seek redress in court while preserving the same solely for the seller. The arbitration provisions are procedurally unconscionable as they were added into the Sales Agreement without any discussion, negotiation or even notice to Respondents. Even the Petitioner's employees did not understand the provision.

At the time the Sales Agreement was presented to Respondents for execution, negotiations and discussions relating to the transaction already had ended. *See e.g.* R0109. Respondents had previously discussed the home design and purchase price with Petitioners and, upon agreement of those terms, Respondents believed the negotiations for this transaction were finalized. *See e.g.* R0109. Upon being presented with the arbitration agreements, Respondents were instructed to initial each page to represent that they received the same. *See e.g.* R0110. They were not instructed to read the agreements before execution. *See e.g.* R0110. Further, Respondents believed they were

not permitted to negotiate or change the terms in the Agreements as they were expected to execute the documents upon their presentation as negotiations had ended. *See e.g.* R0109. Respondents were not presented with an opportunity to take the Agreements home to review them at their own pace, were not given the opportunity to seek legal counsel and often were represented by Petitioners' legal counsel. *See e.g.* R0110. Legal advice is incredibly helpful in transactions which contain complicated and verbose language in agreements like those at issue here; however, the opportunity to seek legal counsel was even more critical in this situation because of the inequity between Petitioners' and Respondents' education and skill. Petitioners clearly understood the weight and power of an arbitration clause while Respondents did not and could not, as Petitioners did not even explain these provisions to their employee, Crystal Rankin, who was left to explain their import to the Respondents. R0708. Those undisputed facts smack of a scheme to deceive.

# ii. THE ARBITRATION AGREEMENTS ARE SUBSTANTIALLY UNCONSCIONABLE.

Regarding substantive unconscionability, our law provides that:

Substantive unconscionability involves unfairness in the terms of the contract itself, and arises when a contract term is so one-sided that it has an overly harsh effect on the disadvantaged party. The factors to be weighed in assessing substantive unconscionability vary with the content of the agreement. Generally, courts should consider the commercial reasonableness of the contract terms, the purpose and effect of the terms, the allocation of the risks between the parties, and public policy concerns.

Brown I, Syl. Pt. 19, 228 W. Va. at 658. The arbitration provision contained within the Sales Agreement is so lop-sided and uneven in favor of Petitioners that the arbitration agreements are rendered substantively unconscionable. In pertinent part, the arbitration agreement states:

The parties hereto specifically acknowledge that they are and shall be bound by arbitration and are barred from initiating any proceeding or action whatsoever in connection with this Agreement. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein contained, in the event You default by failing to settle on the Property within the time required under this Agreement, then We may either (i) commence an arbitration proceeding under this Section 19, or (ii) bring an action for its damages, including reasonable attorneys' fees, as a result of the default in a court having

jurisdiction over the Purchaser. You expressly waive your right to mediation and arbitration in such event.

R0742 (emphasis added). The arbitration provision mandates that Respondents resolve all claims against Petitioners solely through arbitration; however, Petitioners have not imposed the same burden on themselves. Rather, the Petitioners have afforded themselves the enjoyment of using the court system to address the only substantive claim they could have against Respondents – failure to close on the property. The Petitioners have argued that they only carved out a small exception in which they can use the court to address their claims, namely, if Respondents fail to settle on the property and pay the purchase price in a timely fashion. R0308. However, this is an absurd generalization as there could not be any other substantive claim Petitioners would have against Respondents. The only obligation Respondents have to the Petitioners under the Agreements is to pay the purchase price in timely manner. Petitioners did not carve out a specific exception to avail themselves of the court system; instead, Petitioners drafted an agreement to completely avoid arbitration for any claims they may have altogether.

Additionally, the Petitioners incorrectly characterize *Ocwen's* allowance of an exception to an arbitration agreement for a "commercial need to utilize the court system" when, again, this exception has only accepted for the specific role of financial lender. Pet. Br. at 22; *Ocwen*, 232 W. Va. at 365; *Nationstar*, 237 W. Va. at 92. Petitioners did not act as a financial lender in these transactions to which Respondent's allegations apply and, therefore, Petitioners are not privy to this narrow exception to the arbitration agreements.<sup>4</sup> Financial lenders are specifically identified as a narrow exception to arbitration agreements because of the "need to effect a foreclosure or to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> It should be explained that while Monocacy Home Mortgage, LLC is a named defendant, the allegations against it pertain solely to its prior knowledge through common ownership and management with the other Petitioners of the conditions at the Development and its fraudulent concealment from the Respondents of the same.

protect a security interest." *Nationstar*, 237 W. Va. at 93. The one-sidedness of the arbitration provisions bolsters Respondents' claims that the agreements were substantially unconscionable, resulting in their unenforceability.

# E. THE CIRCUIT COURT PROPERLY TREATED PETITIONERS' RENEWED MOTION TO COMPEL AS A MOTION FOR RULE 60(b) RELIEF FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT'S FEBRUARY 6, 2012 ORDER.

In its renewed Motion to Compel Arbitration filed January 8, 2018, Petitioners failed to identify under which Rule of West Virginia's Rules of Civil Procedure they were seeking reconsideration of the circuit court's 2012 Order. R0709-R0731. Petitioners assert that they are now entitled to choose which Rule they filed their renewed Motion to Compel, asserting that the motion was filed pursuant to Rule 54(b) of the Rules of Civil Procedure. However, *Powderidge Unit Owners Association v. Highland Properties, Ltd.* stated that:

When a party filing a motion for reconsideration does not indicate under which West Virginia Rule of Civil Procedure it is filing the motion, the motion will be considered to be either a Rule 59(e) motion to alter or amend a judgment or a Rule 60(b) motion for relief from a judgment order. If the motion is filed within ten days of the circuit court's entry of judgment, the motion is treated as a motion to alter or amend under Rule 59(e). If the motion is filed outside the ten-day limit, it can only be addressed under Rule 60(b).

Syl. Pt. 2, 196 W. Va. 692, 695-696, 474 S.E.2d 872, 875-876 (1996). See also Law v. Monongahela Power Co., 210 W. Va. 549, 551, 558 S.E.2d 349, 351 (2001) (holding "[a] motion which would otherwise qualify as a Rule 59(e) motion that is not filed and served within ten days of the entry of judgment is a Rule 60(b) motion regardless of how styled . . ."); Malone v. Potomac Highlands Airport Auth., 237 W. Va. 235, 238, 786 S.E.2d 594, 597 (2015); Burton v. Burton, 223 W. Va. 191, 195-196, 672 S.E.2d 327, 331-332 (2008). Although Rule 59(e) motion to alter or amend a judgment contains a ten-day window in which Petitioners were required to file their motion, the Petitioners waited over six years before filing this motion – which is unconscionable in-and-of-itself. R0709-R1182. Therefore, the circuit court was correct in considering the

Defendant's motion under Rule 60(b), as that was only option due to the untimeliness of Petitioners' filing and failure to identify or justify any other procedural rule under which the untimely motion was being filed

However, when evaluating Petitioner's motion as being filed under Rule 60(b), it's obvious that such motion was filed out of time by any measure. Under Rule 60(b), the court may relieve a party from:

[A] final judgment, order, or proceeding for the following reasons: (1) Mistake, inadvertence, surprise, excusable neglect, or unavoidable cause; (2) newly discovered evidence which by due diligence could not have been discovered in time to move for a new trial under Rule 59(b); (3) fraud (whether heretofore denominated intrinsic or extrinsic), misrepresentation, or other misconduct of an adverse party; (4) the judgment is void; (5) the judgment has been satisfied, released, or discharged, or a prior judgment upon which it is based has been reversed or otherwise vacated, or it is no longer equitable that the judgment should have prospective application; or (6) any other reason justifying relief from the operation of the judgment.

W. Va. R. Civ. P. 60. However, a motion under Rule 60(b) must be filed within "a reasonable time" and, further, must be filed within "one year after the judgment, order, or proceeding was entered" if filed for reasons (1), (2), or (3) *supra. Id.* Petitioner never identified under which Rule of West Virginia's Rules of Civil Procedure they filed their motion, much less identify which numbered reason within Rule 60(b). However, if the reasoning fell under the purview of numbers (1), (2), or (3), the Petitioners clearly missed the deadline as they only had one year from the circuit court's February 6, 2012 Order to file such motion. Regardless of the reason for filing such motion, the Petitioners undisputedly failed to file their motion within the required "reasonable time" instead waiting over six years to do so without justification. The circuit court was correct in analyzing Petitioners' renewed motion to compel arbitration as untimely and denying the same.

In support of the six-year delay in filing the motion, Petitioners' assert that the circuit court incorrectly reviewed the motion to reconsider under Rule 60(b). While Rule 54(b) of the Rules of Civil Procedure provides that a Court may revise the decision at any time before the entry of a

judgment, there must be a basis for the revision. A court's interlocutory ruling is the law of the case. Thus, the circuit court's 2012 ruling is the law of the case. Here, Petitioners failed to produce materially different evidence in support of their Rule 54(b) motion and while Petitioners argue that there has been a "sea change" in applicable law, which is inaccurate, even then, the law does not overrule the circuit court's prior ruling, and the facts at the time of the 2012 Order are not distinguishable from the facts at hand. Moreover, Petitioners have made no showing of clear error resulting in manifest injustice.

Relying on a recent Fourth Circuit decision, *Carlson v. Boston Sci. Corp.* 856 F.3d 320 (4<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2017), the Court in *Powell v. State Farm Fire & Casualty Co.*, 2018 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 82164 (May 16, 2018), addressed the flexibility to revise *interlocutory* orders before final judgment, as new facts or arguments surface during the course of litigation. While broader than the discretion allowed relative to motions to reconsider *final* judgments under Rule 59(e), the discretion is not inexhaustible. The law-of-the-case doctrine provides when a court decides upon a rule of law, such decision should continue to control the same issues in later phases of that case. A court may revise an interlocutory ruling under the same conditions pursuant to which it may depart from the law of the case: (1) a subsequent trial resulting in substantially different evidence; (2) a change in applicable law; or (3) clear error resulting in manifest injustice. This approach diverges from the Rule 59(e) standard by allowing for different evidence presented during the course of litigation as opposed to new evidence not available at trial.

Here, none of those conditions are present. The Petitioners herein assert that the 2012 Order should be reviewed based upon a change in the applicable law. Of note, however, is that the Petitions cite to cases as early as 2013 in support of the argument of a change in the applicable law. Absent from the Petitioners' brief is any argument addressing the six year delay in the filing

of the motion. As such, regardless of the rule under which the circuit court reviewed the motion, the delay is significant and inexplicable, rendering the ruling sound.

#### V. CONCLUSION

The circuit court correctly held that the arbitration provisions at issue are unconscionable terms contained in contracts of adhesion and, therefore, are unenforceable. If the Petitioners truly believed the circuit court's holding was in error, their appeal should have come long ago. After six years of hard-fought litigation, thousands of hours of attorney time and thousands of dollars in expenses, Petitioners have waived any right to now demand review. This Court must uphold the circuit court's 2012 Order.